
 

VILLAGE OF OAKWOOD 

WORK SESSION 

August 26th, 2025 

6:30 p.m. 

AMENDED AGENDA 

 

1. Call Meeting to order 

2. Discussion by Mayor and Department Heads of matters to be brought to the attention of Council 

if present. 

3. Questions of Mayor and Department Heads concerning Legislation or potential Legislation to be 

considered a future Council meetings. 

4. Discussion of items of draft Legislation or potential Legislation to be considered at future 

Council meetings. 

Legislation: Fiscal Officers Certificate Present 
   

2024-WS-43 AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO ENTER INTO A DEVELOPMENT 

AGREEMENT WITH CEP RENEWABLES OH, LLC FOR THE REDEVELOPMENT OF CERTAIN 

PROPERTY IN THE VILLAGE AS A SOLAR ENERGY PROJECT WITH ATTENDANT 

RECREATIONAL USES 

  

2024-WS-45  AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO ENTER INTO A CONTRCT WITH  

                 CREtelligent AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY 

 

2025-WS-16 A PAY ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE EMPLOYMENT OF AN EMPLOYEE AND SETTING 

FORTH THE DUTIES AND COMPENSATION FOR THEIR POSITION AND DECLARING AN 

EMERGENCY 

 

2025-WS-28 AN EMERGENCY ORDINANCE AMENDING THE REBATE PROGRAM FOR RECREATION 

FACILITY MEMBERSHIP FEES ESTABLISHED BY ORDINANCE N0. 2011-05 

 

2025-WS-39 A PAY ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE EMPLOYMENT OF GINA PIERAGOSTINE FOR THE 

POSITION OF BUILDING DEPARTMENT SECRETARY/PERMIT TECHNICIAN AND SETTING 

FORTH THE DUTIES AND COMPENSATION FOR THAT POSITION AND DECLARING AN 

EMERGENCY 

 

2025-WS-40 A PAY ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE EMPLOYMENT OF PATRICIA A. ANKHENATON FOR 

THE POSITION OF BUILDING DEPARTMENT SECRETARY/PERMIT TECHNICIAN AND 

SETTING FORTH THE DUTIES AND COMPENSATION FOR THAT POSITION AND 

DECLARING AN EMERGENCY 

 

2025-WS-41 AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE AN AGREEMENT WITH THE 

OHIO ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY FOR H2OHIO CHLORIDE REDUCTION 

GRANT PROGRAM FUNDS FOR THE OAKWOOD SALT STORAGE SHED REPAIR PROJECT 

AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY 

 

2025-WS-42 AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO ENTER INTO A PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

WITH MONTROSE FORD, INC., FOR THE PURCHASE OF TWO POLICE PATROL VEHICLES 

AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY 

 

2025-WS-43 AN ORDINANCE TO SUBMIT TO THE ELECTORS OF THE VILLAGE OF OAKWOOD THE 

QUESTION OF ADOPTING A PROPOSED AMENDED CHARTER FOR THE VILLAGE OF 

OAKWOOD AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY 

 

 

2025-WS-44 AN EMERGENCY RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO APPLY TO THE OHIO 

PUBLIC WORKS COMMISSION FOR A POTENTIAL GRANT FOR THE FUNDING OF CAPITAL 

INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS 

 

 



Page 2 of 5 
 
  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Municipal Complex                    Hardin 

 Disaster Recovery Plan     Hardin 

 Human Resources                 Hardin 

Five Year Plan                 Hardin 

Recreation Budget & Events      Nikolic 

Group photo discussion     Hardin 

5. Matters Deemed Appropriate 

6. Adjournment 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Page 3 of 5 
 
  

 
 

 

 

 

    VILLAGE OF OAKWOOD 

COUNCIL MEETING 

August 26th, 2025 

7:00 p.m. 

AMENDED AGENDA 

1. Call Meeting to Order 

2. Pledge of Allegiance  

3. Roll Call 

Council President  Erica L. Nikolic   Mayor  Gary Gottschalk  

President Pro Tempore Johnnie A. Warren  Law  James Climer/ Sam O’Leary 

Ward 1 Councilperson Taunya Scruggs   Finance              Brian L. Thompson 

Ward 2 Councilperson Eloise Hardin   Service  Tom Haba 

Ward 3 Councilperson Paggie Matlock   Fire  Dave Tapp 

Ward 4 Councilperson Mary Davis   Police  Mark Garratt 

Ward 5 Councilperson Candace S. Hill   Building SAFEbuilt/Roland Walker 

        Engineer Matt Jones 

        Recreation Karen Gaither (Interim) 
 

4. Minutes    April 23rd, 2024, Council Meeting Minutes  

May 28th, 2024, Council Meeting Minutes 

    June 25th, 2024, Council Meeting Minutes 

    July 9th, 2024, Council Meeting Minutes 

    August 27th, 2024, Council Meeting Minutes 

    September 10th, 2024, Council Meeting Minutes 

5. Clerk Correspondence 

6. Departmental Reports 
 

MAYOR-GARY GOTTSCHALK  FIRE-DAVE TAPP 

LAW-JAMES CLIMER/ SAM O’LEARY BUILDING-ROLAND WALKER 

FINANCE-BRIAN THOMPSON  0 HOUSING INSPECTOR  

SERVICE-TOM HABA   POLICE-MARK GARRATT 

ENGINEER-MATT JONES  RECREATION-KAREN GAITHER (INTERIM) 
 

7. Ward Reports 

8. Committee Reports 

9. Floor open for comments from Village Residents on meeting agenda and comments in general Village 

residents. Please state your name, address, and the subject you wish to discuss for the record. Please 

limit your comments to five (5) minutes. Thank you! Please sign in to speak. 

 

10. Legislation 

 

2025-35(AMENDED) A PAY ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE EMPLOYMENT OF AN EMPLOYEE AND SETTING  

Introduced 6-10-25 FORTH THE DUTIES AND COMPENSATION FOR THEIR POSITION AND DECLARING AN  

By the Mayor  EMERGENCY 

1st read 6-10-25 

2nd read 6-24-25 

3rd read 7-8-25 

  Tabled 7-8-25 

 



Page 4 of 5 
 
  

 
 

 

 

 

2025-37AMENDED) A RESOLUTION REFERRING TO THE PLANNING COMMSSION FOR REPORT AND  

Introduced 6-10-25 RECOMMENDATION A PROPOSED ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO ENTER  

By the Mayor and INTO A CONTRACT TO SELL VILLAGE LAND DESIGNATED ON THE RECORDS OF THE  

Council as a whole CUAHOGA COUNTY FISCAL OFFICER AS PERMANENT PARCEL NO. 795-08-028 and 795-08-029 

1st read 6-10-25 

2nd read 6-24-25 

3rd read 7-8-25 

Tabled 7-8-25 

 

2025-38(AMENDED) A RESOLUTION REFERRING TO THE PLANNING COMMSSION FOR REPORT AND  

Introduced 6-10-25 RECOMMENDATION A PROPOSED ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO ENTER  

By the Mayor and INTO A CONTRACT TO SELL VILLAGE LAND DESIGNATED ON THE RECORDS OF THE  

Council as a whole  CUAHOGA COUNTY FISCAL OFFICER AS PERMANENT PARCEL NO. 795-08-030 and 795-08-031 

1st read 6-10-25 

2nd read 6-24-25 

3rd read 7-8-25 

Tabled 7-8-25 

 

2025-39(AMENDED)   AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO ENTER INTO A CONTRACT WITH J WALL  

Introduced 6-10-25 HOMES, LLC, C/O JOHANNAH WALLACE, INDIVIDUALLY TO SELL VILLAGE LAND 

By the Mayor and DESIGNATED ON THE RECORDS OF THE CUAHOGA COUNTY FISCAL OFFICER AS  

Council as a whole  PERMANENT PARCEL NO. 795-08-028 AND 795-08-029 

1st read 6-10-25 

2nd read 6-24-25 

3rd read 7-8-25 

Tabled 7-8-25 

 

2025-40(AMENDED) AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO ENTER INTO A CONTRACT WITH J WALL  

Introduced 6-10-25 HOMES, LLC, C/O JOHANNAH WALLACE, INDIVIDUALLY TO SELL VILLAGE LAND  

By the Mayor and  DESIGNATED ON THE RECORDS OF THE CUAHOGA COUNTY FISCAL OFFICER AS  

Council as a whole  PERMANENT PARCEL NO. 795-08-030 AND 795-08-031 

1st read 6-10-25 

2nd read 6-24-25 

3rd read 7-8-25 

Tabled 7-8-25 

 

2025-41(AMENDED) A RESOLUTION REFERRING TO THE PLANNING COMMSSION FOR REPORT AND  

Introduced 6-10-25 RECOMMENDATION A PROPOSED ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO ENTER  

By the Mayor and  INTO A CONTRACT TO SELL VILLAGE LAND DESIGNATED ON THE RECORDS OF THE  

Council as a whole  CUAHOGA COUNTY FISCAL OFFICER AS PERMANENT PARCEL NO. 795-09-043 

1st read 6-10-25 

2nd read 6-24-25 

3rd read 7-8-25 

Tabled 7-8-25 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Page 5 of 5 
 
  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

2025-42(AMENDED) AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO ENTER INTO A CONTRACT WITH J WALL  

Introduced 6-10-25 HOMES, LLC, C/O JOHANNAH WALLACE, INDIVIDUALLY TO SELL VILLAGE LAND  

By the Mayor and DESIGNATED ON THE RECORDS OF THE CUAHOGA COUNTY FISCAL OFFICER AS  

Council as a whole  PERMANENT PARCEL NO. 795-09-043 

1st read 6-10-25 

2nd read 6-24-25 

3rd read 7-8-25 

Tabled 7-8-25 

 

2025-48 A PAY ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE EMPLOYMENT OF HEATHER PURGAR AND    

Introduced 6-17-25 SETTING FORTH THE DUTIES AND COMPENSATION FOR THAT POSITION AND  

By the Mayor  DECLARING AN EMERGENCY 

  1st read 6-17-25 

2nd read 6-20-25 

3rd read 8-26-25 

 

2025-48A(AMENDED) AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ORDINANCE 2025-48A SETTING FORTH CERTAIN POSITIONS  

Introduced 8-26-25 OF EMPLOYMENT AND PAY RATES FOR THE VILLAGE OF OAKWOOD FIRE DEPARTMENT  

By the Mayor and  AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY 

Council as a whole 

1st read 8-26-25 

 

11. Adjournment 









































































































































































































































































































































































VILLAGE OF OAKWOOD 

COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

2024-9-10 

 

ATTENDANCE 

Erica Nikolic, President  James Climer, Law Director    

Johnnie Warren, President Pro Tem Captain Freeman, Police Department 

Taunya Scruggs, Ward 1  Tom Haba, Service Director 

Eloise Hardin, Ward 2   Matt Jones, Village Engineer 

  Paggie Matlock, Ward 3  Brian Thompson, Finance Director  

 Mary Davis, Ward 4  Carlean Perez – Recreation Director  

Candace Hill, Ward 5(formerly Williams)   

      

ABSENT 

        Dave Tapp, Fire Department   

        Daniel Marinucci, Chief Bldg. Official 

* Arrived after roll call  

Meeting opened at 7:05pm by Nikolic 

Pledge of Allegiance  

Roll Call taken  

 

Nikolic: Agenda item number four, meeting minutes.  

 

Motion to adopt the meeting minutes for March 25th, Finance Committee Meeting Minutes 

made by Hardin seconded by Matlock  

YES VOTE: Nikolic, Scruggs, Matlock 

NO VOTE: Davis, Williams  

MOTION PASSED 

 

Motion to adopt the minutes from August 27th, 2024 Records Commission Meeting Minutes 

made by Climer seconded by Nikolic  

YES VOTE: Nikolic, Climer, Joseph 

MOTION PASSED 

 

Okay, moving on to agenda item number five, clerk correspondence. Joseph: The only thing I 

have to mention is just a reminder that we have shred day coming up on Saturday the 14th at the 

park over by Mt. Zion. That is going to be from 9am to 12pm, so just wanted to remind everyone 

that's the last one for the year. Nikolic: Thank you, Council Clerk Joseph, moving on to agenda 

item number six, the departmental reports. Mayor Gottschalk is not with us, may we hear from 

our Law Director?  

 

Law Director Climer| Climer: Thank you, Madam President, I have no report, I'm available for 

questions. Nikolic: Our first question in the work session was regarding the handbook. We 

wanted a status of where you were with reviewing that with the fire department. Climer: I 

 Gary V Gottschalk, Mayor  

Ross Cirincione, Prosecutor 

 



believe that Mr. O'Leary is working on that, I'll ask him for an update. Nikolic: Alright, just have 

him shoot us an email. Climer: Will do. Hardin: Can we ask that we have that by the next 

meeting, Mr. Law Director? Climer: We will try to do that. Hardin: Thank you. Nikolic: We'd 

like to move that forward because that is largely relating to the time clock legislation and council 

would like to move on that. My next question was about the property on Forbes. Where are we 

with that? Climer: Mr. O'Leary and Mr. Cirincione are consulting on the options on that. They 

are obtaining the building department file or whatever file there is on it. I'll ask them to report 

back to me before the end of the week on where they are on that. So, we had a discussion about it 

towards the tail end last week. And so we're going to try to move that forward. There are a 

number of options available under the point of sale ordinance. After Mr. Cirincione and Mr. 

O'Leary has a chance to put together the strategy, we're going to get that moving. Hardin: And 

the objective was what? Climer: There's an auxiliary property there that was at one time used for 

rentals that's fallen into disrepair. There have been some complaints from the neighbors. The 

main property is okay, the property is presently under sale. The agent for the property owner has 

been informed of the point of sale issues on this. They're well aware that they need to be taken 

care of. And in fact I think they have listed it as subject to the point-of-sale ordinance or the need 

to make repairs under that ordinance. Nikolic: Did the building department do a point of sale 

inspection? Climer: They did not to my knowledge. Nikolic: Is that not required? To what 

extent is that required? Climer: The extent that it is required is the building department can 

request entry into the property under case law and in this district of the United States District 

Court. It is a Fourth Amendment violation to hold up the sale if somebody does not consent to 

that inspection. But what then happens is the building department will issue a certificate that the 

matter has not been inspected. The escrow agent is required to have that either a certificate of 

inspection. Or a statement from the building department that the inspection could not be 

conducted in its file. And then if the purchaser purchases the property they're required to make 

the repairs. Nikolic: Mr. Marinucci is not here this evening. We will wait for your update from 

Mr. O'Leary and Cirincione. Any further questions for our law director? Hearing none, may we 

hear from our finance director, Mr. Thompson?  

 

Finance Director Thompson| Thompson: Thank you, Madam Chairman, just a couple brief 

comments. We continue to work with our state audit group on the 2022-2023 bi-annual audit. 

And also we're just working diligently to close out July and August financials. We're hoping to 

have those done in a couple of weeks. We're working on those simultaneously. And just briefly 

starting to put templates together for the 2025 budget. For different departments, the safety force 

is about 60% of it. So, I'm internally discussing with them, trying to finalize their budgets and 

having the rest of the departments have theirs forthcoming as well. Thank you, Madam Chair, 

that's all I have. Hardin: I called today, last time I talked with you. You were working on some 

information that the chair of finance wanted. Is that ready? Do you have everything that she's 

asked for? Because 2024-37 is still sitting here. Have you given her everything? Thompson: I 

know it was a quite lengthy email, and I sent quite a few documents. I think it was the end of the 

last week. So we can revisit the list, and if there's anything left, I can forward it. So I know 

there's a lengthy one that I did send back in the email for information. Nikolic: So my question 

is, I believe the legislation had a September 1st deadline for the budgets and everything from the 

departments. Have you given them an updated deadline to submit? Thompson: It's just been 

internally, like I said, i'm working with the safety force at this point. But I'll be reaching back out 

to the department heads to continue to work on this internally. Nikolic: All right, so I mean we're 



already ten days behind, so let's not let it go past another two weeks. Warren: I would like to see 

if we can have some proposals by the next council meeting or projection from either of the safety 

forces. I think that we've been going over this over and over and over again and I don't know 

how many variations. We got the same number of people, we have certain expenses that 

increases here and there. However, I think we should at least have the safety forces. At least 

Police Chief because he always have his anyway. I think that we should be able to review at least 

police, if not fire in two weeks. Garratt: I could have it ready, that would be feasible. Matlock: 

Brian, the 2024, what would it be, 2023 property taxes for our residents. I know each resident got 

hit with like a 37% assessment fee on their property taxes. And some of them, it was hit at a time 

where a lot of people was not expecting it. I'm going to bring it up in front of council to see what 

we can do to kind of help compensate these residents back. Pending on how much we receive 

from the county for those property taxes. Because I don't think you anticipated it either would it 

going up like 34% or 37%? Thompson: Yeah, I think it was county-wide and it did go up, so... 

Matlock: It was countywide, some counties or some municipalities, basically... And we should 

just look into how much was generated during that time period. And maybe we can make some 

type of arrangement of providing our residents back. At least if we can, at I'm looking at at least 

50%. Or whatever they put into that assessment, what was given to us for that assessment. I don't 

want to run us to the point where we're detrimental in debt with finances. But if there is a way 

that we can help give or either provide the residents back some of that assessment money. 

Because they were not expecting that. And we have a lot of elderly, too, that wasn't expected. 

That's like an added expense to them. And some of it went up, I know mine went up almost 

$1,000. So, I don't know, I'm just saying what mine is. And I know theirs is hit with even $300, 

$400 more. If you can provide us with information on how much those taxes were, how much 

that assessment was in general. And then they would have to provide proof or whatever that they 

paid that extra 37%. Which they probably did because you know you have to have taxes paid at a 

certain time. And maybe perhaps we can go in and find out what we can do to help give them 

back some of that. What will help them take down a little bit of that burden this year. Next year 

we know what's going to come. But this year everybody just got hit with it and just didn't know. 

Thompson: I'm sure the county can give me a holistic kind of assessment total. But it was 

definitely initiated by them and each individual probably had to call on the county because of 

that partial number of information on each property to see what it actually was. I'm not aware of 

any rebate program that's going back to... Matlock: Well, it's going to have to be something 

through us. Legislation is going to have be drawn up through us, through council. In order to see 

how much we would give them back. Based off of how much they actually paid into that 

assessment. How much that assessment actually was, providing us proof. And then we would 

make a recommendation based on what you say it would be if they won't put us into no financial 

bind. But if we can give them some of that back, I just think we need to kind of like give it back. 

But that's something that we would need, in a rebate, something that we can do in a re-bate for 

them. Thompson: We really don't collect to the following year, like the process happened this 

year. Collections won't happen for this process until next year. Matlock: But whatever it is, we 

can look into it and then they know that rebate will come back to them. Nikolic: I agree we 

should look into county programs and anything that's available through the county to help 

support as well. So that, you know, make sure you keep on top of anything that may come out 

through the county that may support residents and or through the state. I'm not sure, but just stay 

on top of any programs that may be support that. And of course, we will as well through our 

networks, but primarily... Thompson: Potential hardship program... Nikolic: Right, any type of 



program that would have come out to assist people given this new tax assessment. Any other 

questions for our finance director? Hearing none, may we hear from our service director, Mr. 

Haba. 

 

Service Director Haba| Haba: Thank you, Madam President, next Wednesday, September 18th, 

we'll have our annual paint and tire and hazardous household materials, computers, pick up. 

We'll have a flyer out by the end of the week on that. Also the shred notification will be on that 

flyer. We're going to put our leaf pick up on because that's starting up soon for leaf pick-up. And 

we might even have the... Senior citizens plowing of driveways on there. I'm not sure on that one 

yet. I'll know about it tomorrow morning, if we're down there or not. And the contractor for the 

new (inaudible) church that collapsed a few months back. Notified the owner that he'd be starting 

next Monday, September 16th, on removing that. So that's good news out of there and that's all I 

have. If you have any questions... Warren: Are we doing any chargeback for the work that we 

did in there to secure that site or no? Haba: I don't know, it's not really in my hands, and I just... 

Warren: Was it a significant sum? Haba: ...(inaudible) thrown into it, but that would be up to 

maybe fire. I can talk to Dave the Chief... Warren: No, I mean, with you guys going in... Haba: 

Yeah, we went in that night and we put the caution tape up there. Warren: Oh, that's it? Haba: 

Caution tape, yeah, we went in for a few hours. They called me at about 11:30pm that Saturday 

night. We were there until about four in the morning. There's one operator on the machine... 

Warren: And that's what I'm saying, that's what I'm talking about. Get an idea of what it is in 

this seat and turn it over to Brian. And then we can recommend to him about pursuing it. 

Because they could take it out on their insurance or whatever, but it's their responsibility. 

Nikolic: I guess one last thing, the litter signs, have they gone up yet? Haba: Not all of the 

Village, you have in some places. The ones at the, before a police basketball game. We put out 

all the signs out there about the leash law and the clean-up after your dog, you have a no 

littering. Nikolic: Where the leash law signs located? Are they all throughout the village? Haba: 

Yeah, they're not everywhere right now and but they're at the park. They'll be at the, there's ones 

at the Booker playground, there's one's at the community park, we're put some at Wright, and 

also in the meadows where we have that bench and the trash can over there. Nikolic: Any other 

questions for our service director? Thank you hearing them and hear from our police chief.  

 

Police Chief Garratt| Garratt: We had an issue in August, illegal dumping on Wright Avenue. 

There's been a couple abandoned lot over there, they've just been dumping the stuff. We did send 

officers down there and fortunately this day and age of Amazon people throw away stuff and 

leave their identification on the box. So that worked out quite well for us on our side. However, 

it was kind of interesting how it kind of came down. The officer that did the investigation on it, 

took it back to the resident where there was some garbage out of. And this was in Bedford, and 

they had a contractor, they were doing some work at the house. The contractor hired another 

person to take the garbage and dump it. Well, they were back too fast. And the contractor was 

skeptical on it and this the second time. Well, I think you can put an end to this story right now. 

They're going around and making an easy dump and dumping in Oakwood right in the yard 

there. So, we're able to cite that person with two counts of illegal dumping. So, that worked out 

well, and I appreciate the information. This is, again, another thing about community reaching 

out to us and getting us going as best we could. And it's just another example of how we need the 

community to do our investigations. This past weekend, officers went around to check all the 

streetlights and the poles, report to First Energy. Seven to ten days, they'll replace the bulbs and 



pull the poles that are dangerous. Especially with the last storms and everything in the woods 

that we had, so that was handled. The next two months is going to be a lot of training, a lot our 

mandatory continuing professional education is going occur the next two month. I want to thank 

the fire department. They got us through one part of all the officers who were certified with first 

aid and CPR again, as they do each year. I really appreciate them taking the time to do that with 

us. Also, we have a training class coming up that we're sponsoring at our training center. You'll 

see police cars from all over the state coming in for that. You see all different police cars you're 

not aware of, it's probably why they're here. So other than that, that's all I have, thank you. 

Nikolic: Any questions or comments for our police chief? Hearing none, may we hear from our 

engineer, Mr. Jones.  

 

Engineer Jones| Jones: Thank you, so just a couple quick updates on upcoming construction 

projects. The first one will be the reconstruction of the southern half of First Place. That will start 

probably within the next couple of days. We met with the contractor late last week and they're 

ready to get out there. So, that'll be concrete repairs and an asphalt overlay occurring basically 

from Forbes Road up to the southern driveway of the Penske facility. So that will take care of 

most of the Forbes parts of that road for the businesses up there. Next project is the first phase of 

Tryon Road. The resurfacing of Tryion between Richmond and Jean Drive. That is looking to 

start up here in a few weeks. We just had successful bids on that last week. So, that project will 

be going hopefully by the end of September and should take about a month. So again, this is 

based on Millenfeld, taking off the existing asphalt, doing some repairs, putting down a new 

asphalt service. And then finally, we have the repair and resurfacing of Oak Leaf. That project 

has been a little bit delayed, but we're looking to get some concrete work started on that project, 

hopefully in November. We're going to start on the two-way section, so that will be between 

John's trailer and Oakleaf Oval, the south end of the project. The rest of the work on that project 

is going to occur in 2025. There has to be some coordination with ODOT because of the fact that 

traffic control has to happen near the interchange. That complicates things a little bit on that 

projects. That's the update on everything, and of course, as you all know, Forbes Road is just 

about completed, and we're just into a punch list on that. Other than that, I'm open for questions. 

Davis: The first one I wanted to ask, the Oak Leaf one, do we already have the people that are 

going to do the work? Jones: No, we don't have it. Davis: Did we put it out for bids? Jones: No, 

that's going to be it's going to be advertised for the next week. Davis: Okay, and so November is 

not too late, I mean, cold or whatever? Jones: No, for concrete work. So, we won't be able to get 

the asphalt work done. So there's going to be concrete repairs that will happen and then an 

asphalt overlay. The asphalt overlay can't happen this year. But some of the concrete repairs at 

the south end, we can knock those out now. And then we can handle the rest of the concrete 

repairs in the one-way section next year. The repairs in one- way section are going to necessitate 

that road being shut down completely. So, that has to be coordinated with ODOT. So, we're 

doing that the easier repairs to work around are the ones at the south end; we'll do those this year. 

Davis: The second question I had was you talked about First Place. Is there something that they 

pay in their fees, of all those companies that are there, towards road work? Jones: That's a local 

road, and again, keep in mind that a lot of the village's income comes from those businesses. So, 

just something to keep in mind. We did get funding for that project. A big portion of the 

construction on that job is being paid for by CDBG and CDSG funds that were awarded for this 

year. So, we're getting basically even money on that job. Davis: When that was going to be 

done? Jones: Completion should be about 30 to 45 days, so that'll be end of October, roughly. 



Davis: Thank you. Nikolic: So, my question regarding Oak Leaf is, you said we're using ARPA 

funds for that? Are they required to be spent by the end of the year? Jones: They're not required 

to spent by end of year. Nikolic: Okay, they can be spent up until next year? Jones: At a 

minimum up until next year. I don't know if they'd extend it beyond that, but I know they can 

still be spending it next year It doesn't matter. We intend on spending it well before the end of 

next year, so... Hardin: Everyone is pleased with Forbes, to my knowledge. However, what 

we're asking to add to the cost when they were doing the work. Some of the tar is on some of the 

local streets, Somerville, Lynbrook. Haba: Yeah, I know I didn't see it, but I don't think you're 

going to be able to get it off anyway. I know a street sweeper even brushes on it. But you take a 

look at it, I'll take another look at, but looked like it was one vehicle. Jones: I can mention it to 

the county, but when that happens, that's usually a pretty difficult thing to deal with, so I'll check 

it. Hardin: Okay, and then on Forbes, just before you get to Swift, on the Bedford Heights side. 

This is, Tommy, while I'm thinking about it, a tree has fallen. It's going to come out into the 

street in a minute. Haba: Okay. Hardin: When will you start your annual assessment for street 

maintenance? Jones: It'll be by the end of the year, I don't have a date yet. Hardin: Okay, put it 

way up there again, again, again, and again, Somerville and on... Jones: We'll be looking at all 

of them, so it will be an objective analysis. Hardin: Well, we got a little priority there, don't 

forget. And on Raynham, whenever you do it, I'm going on record, because the curving was a 

part of the street. It's kind of bad just as you come on to Raynham. Jones: That'll be something 

we look at when we look. Hardin: Alright, thank you sir. Any other questions or comments for 

our Engineer? Hearing none, may we hear from our Recreation Director, Ms. Perez.  

Perez: Thank you, Madam President, since you guys haven't been around, I guess I can catch 

you up from June to July, to now. So, we started out with summer camp in June, and in June, we 

had 50 kids. Everyone went home safely, I cannot say that there weren't any issues. My car got 

hit by one of the bus drivers. And I had to pay for it because they're exempted, but that's ok. That 

was probably my main issue. We had to get rid of some counselors, so we did have a little bit. 

All the kids went home safe and sound. That's exactly what we wanted to have it. We went 

straight from summer camp into summer concerts. I MC'd most of the shows because the Mayor 

was ill, but that went pretty well. We had a pretty good show and money. Collections were not as 

large as they used to be, but we did have some good collections from the shows. And I know that 

for a fact because I did count that money also. And then after that, after the summer concert, 

exercise is still going on in between all that. That is the recreation department, that's what we're 

doing. And I've got an update for you. As of Monday, residents, and council, I have been 

approved. Ms. Hardin had asked me several times because she's received calls on the Aquafit 

class. We are approved to start that class on Monday at 10 o'clock. And it will be from 10am to 

10.45am, and it is a free class for the residents. So again, it's 10 o'clock every Monday, and every 

Wednesday and Friday classes will still resume at Mt. Zion, from 11am to 11:45am, that's yoga 

with a twist. Davis: Where is it going to be held? Perez: At the quality inn. Hardin: Because 

we're talking about water, is there a release? Perez: I will make a form for everyone to sign. And 

we have to get the insurance form to up to the Quality Inn also. Davis: And this is only for 

Oakwood residents only, you're saying? Perez: Correct. Hardin: And you do verify that? 

Matlock: Approximately how deep? Perez: It's five, so that's all I really have, I'm open for 

questions. But the mayor told me you mentioned something about Chromebooks. He's buying 

Chromebooks for the center and he's going to be giving them some for the Center. I think Paggie 

you needed to get some stuff on the computers, some vouchers or something you wanted to do 

with computers for the Seniors? Matlock: No, I think what it was, just a lock up case to make 



sure. Davis: We can get them on a cart, add it to it, and then it has a lock on it. But this also 

charges them up, because usually you charge them when they're not being used. Perez: I'm 

trying to get some more programming started since everything has calmed down. I'm tryin' to get 

more programming starting for the community center during the week. My first event will be this 

Thursday; there is someone that's coming to show you how to wrap your hair. She's doing it for 

free at 12pm on Thursday at the community centers. And I will be trying to get the different 

events coming up throughout the week. Matlock: Approximately how many individuals can get 

inside of the Oakwood Village bus? Perez: 14. Matlock: I know we had a lot of seniors apply 

for those farmer market coupons. And we were trying to see if we can get a date that we could 

take them out to a little date like to a farmers market. So, they can spend them if they want to. 

We were thinking about probably, perhaps, we don't know, West Side Market. That's just a day 

for them at the West Side market. They could utilize those coupons for produce. And it could be 

like a little afternoon, a couple hour trip, nothing. Perez: We can do that any day, but 

Wednesday. Matlock: Even if we were to check and see if there's any place like Amish country 

or somewhere close, nothing far for them to just go to. Just see because they just state to me that 

they were getting them in the mail. Perez: I'll work on that, start working on that this week, 

tomorrow and Friday. Any other questions? Nikolic: Any questions for our recreation director? 

Hearing none, thank you, Ms. Perez. Moving on to agenda item number seven, the ward reports.  

 

Ward Report  

Councilperson Scruggs: Ward 1 had their very first event where we were coming together just 

to meet your neighbor. And we had a movie in the park and a cookout. So I dragged my grill 

from the house to a little area in the meadows. Brought some hot dogs and the kids and the 

families that came out that had a wonderful time eating hot dogs, eating chips, and cookies. And 

it was a potluck as well so some of the ward members brought potato salad and cookies and 

things. So, we had a really nice time for everyone that came out. We had a blow up movie thing 

and music and everything, and the movie that we watched was E.T. So it was really nice to, the 

kids didn't really want to watch E.T. But it was nice because I brought the parents out that were 

our age that used to watch E. T. And we had a lot of little glow up, you know, glasses and things 

that they could be fun and find your kid in the dark. And the really, really cool thing about it was 

that we reached out to the police officers and said, hey, we got this going on. And they showed 

up and so the police officers were out there as well. They had on their glow up, you know, 

everybody had a great time, just getting an opportunity to meet each other and spend some time 

outside of the house. So our goal is to try to do more things where we can kind of come together 

as a community. And just know who we're living next to. Because it really does make a 

difference. So that's the first of the events that we had in Ward 1. And we will be having our 

newsletter coming out each quarter, so it's fall. We got to get ready for our newsletters. So, be on 

the lookout for our war newsletter. Warren: I just wanted to commend you on using the police 

officers because historically police bring fear to kids. And in our community, we got to integrate 

the police with the kids so that they feel comfortable. And know that that's who you call when 

you have an issue. And so it's really good and our police chief has always participated as well as 

fire in all of our events.  

 

Councilperson Hardin: Ward 2, we did have an issue and I'm going to bring it up because I'll 

need the help of the rest of council. On Labor Day, the fireworks that the young people shot off 

in the ward, they were horrendous. And my question is this, Chief, I know, but the council can 



pass legislation that would prohibit the use of them. Because by the state law, they are allowed. 

So, we would have to pass ordinance that would disallow them. Are there different types of 

fireworks versus... Garratt: Here's the thing, the state limits to what type of fireworks. You guys 

can limit to what days the fireworks are allowed. So, if you want fourth of July, the weekend 

before, the weekend after, none of the other holidays, this is what I've told you the last three 

years since they made it. You guys have the right to squash that down to whatever you want to 

do. You can allow it on Fourth of July or you know, whatever you guys decide and omit the rest 

of the holidays. Because pretty much every holiday and the weekend before, the weekend after, 

they're allowed. And we don't enforce and cannot enforce until after 11 o'clock. A lot of people 

go to bed before 11 o clock, I understand that. And we can do a laundry list of the problems that 

people have with fireworks, I get it. Veterans, animals, children, we have issues and we agree 

with it. But I bring it to you is, again, if you guys deem it necessary. Maybe now that we've got a 

taste of the amount of fireworks that are going on. Maybe we could do some constriction on that 

with legislation. And allow it at certain points, whatever you guys agree on. And then you let us 

know and we'll enforce the rest. Hardin: But there are different kinds, because to some, it makes 

a first little boom, and then my god. Those are legal, those are mortars. Hardin: Can we disallow 

mortars? Garratt: I don't think that you can do that. Climer: My recollection, and it's been a 

while, but my recollection off the top of my head was that when the state liberalized or legalized 

the use of certain fireworks. The cities could opt out of both dates and times and the types that 

they liberalized it for. Now that's right off the of my head. I've got to pull that out and dust it off 

again. But I think there are options to dial back the types of fireworks that are permitted, I think. 

Hardin: I wanted to bring it up publicly because it was really, really one situation. It was one 

from one extreme to the other. It was a veteran that had a problem, and then a mom called me. 

Her child was on the spectrum, and she had to leave the village. Garratt: We're not crazy about 

it either, but as a police department because we get a flooding of calls. And we answer every call 

even though we know it's fireworks, we're still going answer. Hardin: They did come around 

and eventually I walked up there because you couldn't do anything. But if it's okay with the rest 

of council, please start looking at maybe the kinds of more these mortars because they are 

extremely loud. Climer: I'll send around a memo on what the state has allowed individual cities 

to opt out of. Hardin: Okay, great, thank you. 

 

Councilwoman Matlock: There's nothing other than we did have a complaint about a couple of 

your police individuals. But I do think people are in the audience today and they're going to 

bring that complaint to you personally. So, we can address it and perhaps maybe resolve the 

issues that are going on. I think they can be resolved, we just need to resolve. And basically, the 

other complaint I have, our building department person is not here tonight. So, that would be it, 

we'll deal with that later, thank you.  

 

Councilwoman Davis: Ward four, I have to say, I've been working on it for the last couple of 

weeks. We have a company that's really situated on Broadway, but they're backing up into 

Macedonia Road. I don't know if anybody's been aware, drive by the DCOMM. And so I have 

sent pictures, I have asked the building department to go through there and start citing them. 

Because they're now on residential property. On both sides of residential property, so I'm hoping 

to have answers within the week of what they're going to do with this. I've been promised about 

the landscaping is going to be beautiful. But I haven't seen any actual pictures or things that are 



going to begin. And I don't like the way it looks right now. But also make sure to look for your 

newsletters coming out soon, thank you.  

 

Councilwoman Williams: No ward report, but just a community report. You should be receiving 

or have received a flyer in the mail for charter informational sessions. The first one begins this 

Saturday at 11 a.m. We have a charter review coming up the charter is our law that governs the 

village. And so you can join us take a look at the charter. Hear about what the different sections 

are. Make recommendations to changes you believe that should be in the charter. And then that 

commission actually convenes after November. I want to say November after the election. So 

there will be one person from each ward. And so every council person here gets to select 

someone from their ward. And then the mayor, I think, selects two people. So just to let you 

know that that is coming up, very big deal, please be a part of that. If you need a flyer before you 

go, we can get you those. But theres six Saturday sessions between now and November. Thank 

you, that was almost magical, the what happened when you investigated that. I did take a drive 

around ward 5, there's some dumping off Mistletoe, too that's pretty regular. And then the other 

one area was the train tracks, North Lane. It was a small pile and then disappeared and I was like, 

a big pile. I don't know if there's cameras that can help you there with that. Tommy and I deal 

with that all the time. I think actually the railroad picked that last set of tires up, which is the first 

time in a long time. That used to be a real big problem. We'd pick them up, we'd pick em up, and 

they'd dump them. They cleaned that whole area out and it's been better. But someone did dump 

a little while ago and it got picked up pretty quick, so I'm guessing it was the railroad. We have 

cameras that we've used before down there to catch people dumping. And we have caught people 

dumping. And once we got it cleaned up, then we'll start putting the cameras back out so we can 

date and time it, and we pick up license plate. We put them on the poles or in the trees. Police car 

did catch him on the other side of North Lane back just less than a year ago I think. They started 

up on the other side by the freeway in North Lane and they caught him right away. Garratt: 

We'll get him, it just takes a little while.  

 

Nikolic: Agenda item number eight, committee reports.  

 

Committee Report  

 

Fine Arts Committee 

Councilwoman Scruggs: So the Fine Arts Commission, we have a meeting tomorrow at 4:30pm. 

And so the goal for that meeting is to start to discuss and plan and make sure that we have 

helpers and whatever is needed for the events for the fall. So, if you have a desire to participate, 

it would be very, very helpful if you show up. Ms. Carlean is definitely going to be in charge of 

everything. But I know that she would love any support that she could get. The other help that 

we're going to be giving towards the fine arts committee, that we mentioned before we went on 

recess. Is making sure that we gathered a database and had a clean database of the residents. So 

we're going to have, for every meeting in the back, if you show up and your name is not on the 

list. We're going to start gathering a little bit more data. So we'll be asking for your name your 

address, your ward, your email and your phone number. So that you don't always have to wait 

for a flyer to come in the mail. You can potentially get it through email, you can get it though 

text. So that's our goal. So you'll see that once you get your name on that list, you don't have to 

sign up every single time. Once you're on there, you're good. So please make sure when you see 



that list. If you come in and get your names on it. We'll be talking about that each time so we can 

build our database. And make sure that you are up to date on all of the things that are going on 

event-wise from Council and Recreation and Fine Arts. Nikolic: Just in terms of that, could we 

also get just a sheet going around for email addresses for anyone who hasn't given their email 

address now? Clerk, if you have an extra sheet of paper. So, if you haven't given your email 

address. When it's time for resident comment, you don't have to make a comment. If you have 

given your e-mail address just step up and write it down on the sheet there so we could keep 

track of everyone.  

 

Health Care/ HR Committee 

Councilwoman Hardin: No report. 

 

Utilities 

Councilwoman Matlock: No report. 

 

Environmental Committee 

Councilwoman Nikolic: My committee is the Environmental Committee. We have two 

important dates coming up on September 26th. The community center will have a landfill Q&A. 

The environmental supervisor from the county will come and answer all questions. The landfill 

is expanding, he'll come and anything that you ever wanted to know about the landfill will be 

answered in this meeting. He'll do a full presentation of what a landfill is, how they're checking, 

what they found. So, that's on 26th in the community center. And also on October 29th both at 7 

p.m., we're going to have we're going to start the community engagement for drafting a climate 

action plan. And this is really just looking into the future about what we can be doing as a 

community to be kind to our earth. What type of plans you would like to see what's important to 

you so just collecting that information. To make sure we have your voice heard when we start 

drafting the plan.  

 

Economic Development/Grants Committee 

Councilman Warren: Community economic development, the mayor and I have been talking. 

There are two businesses that are requesting to be considered for Oakwood. And we're talking 

about what incentive they're requesting; some tax abatement incentives. And once we narrow 

down that, then I will be able to produce a written report. But the mayor met with two of the 

entities today, earlier today and also with the county executive 

 

Safety Service Committee 

Councilwoman Davis: No report.  

 

Tax Incentive Review Council Committee & 

Finance Committee 

Councilwoman Hill: No report. 

 

Floor opened to the public 

Melinda Harp, Free Ave| Harp: I've been an Oakwood resident for almost 20 years. I'm also a 

member of the Oakwood Planning Commission. I've be on the commission for 13 years. My 

concerns are... With some planning commission activities. The Planning Commission had a 



meeting, first Monday in May, it was rather explosive. The residents did not want the sports 

complex put at the end of their residential street, my street has flavor. That means there are 

residents who have built houses there. There are residents that have been there for 25 years, even 

50 years. And so all of these residents gathered together and came to the planning commission 

meeting, which happened to be over there. As a member of the commission, I already knew, I 

was prepared. I knew that the application could not go through simply because the person who 

made the application wasn't a resident, wasn't an owner, wasn't anything. He wasn't even 

qualified to have standing to come to a meeting. But I allowed it to go on, because that should 

have come from any other planning commission. Definitely should have come from our 

chairperson. Definitely should've come from out legal department. So we spent 45 minutes or an 

hour over there, and when I had had enough. I actually said you have no standing to be here, the 

meeting was rescheduled. At that meeting, these people, these passionate people on Free Avenue 

came, left their homes came. We didn't have any representation, none. Our Council person was 

there, she didn't open her mouth, she didn't say anything. And after this I found out, nobody even 

knows who she is. Nobody, I'm sorry, I will rephrase that. The people are free avenue do not 

even know who their Council person is. And I believe she's been in the office for seven years. So 

we had another meeting, they had that meeting thinking that they had 14 days. It's said 14 day to 

regroup and do what they had to do. But they didn't because that meeting got pumped up in less 

than nine days, actually less than a week. Residents weren't given any notice. We know what the 

plan was, the plan was to pass that without us. When the applicants came back, they were 

prepared. They had the proper paperwork, they had proper agency forms to say that they could 

act on behalf of the owner. Everything was fine, it was explosive. The planning commission 

treated those residents so bad. And I also was emotional and explosive. So, much so that I had to 

come back at the August 5th meeting and I had apologize to some people for being that 

emotional. The thing that I want to say is that when we went back for the second meeting and all 

of the explosiveness was going on. Where was our Council person? Didn't show up, didn't call, 

didn't say she wasn't coming. Never had a word to say, we felt betrayed, they felt betrayed. They 

felt alone, we don't have any representation on Free Avenue. I don't know what happens on 

Wright, I dont know what happens to the rest of ward 5. But I know what happens on Free. Now 

we invite you to invite us to a meeting so we can meet you. We will know who you are, how you 

stand. Why you didn't come to our assistance, even if you didn't believe or you didn't agree with 

us. You should both meetings, and you should have had something to say. So, we invite you to 

invite us to a meeting. You can tell us what your idea. I listened to your report, you didn't have 

nothing to say but a flyer. Which you didn't even send out. You know why? Because it didn't 

happen in our ward. Because nothing ever happens in our ward. I had a couple of things that I 

was going to say tonight, I'm going to cut this short. I'll come back another day, but I sense that 

Oakwood is moving in a new direction. And sometimes, you can't take old baggage to your new 

house. And this is a message for everybody, because you all look real pretty, colors and 

everything. You all, the residents need your voice, you are our voice. It didn't make any sense for 

all those residents to come and have to come and be talk down to, yelled, and screamed at. 

Because they felt like nobody was hearing them. So, in closing, the next time I come, I hope to 

be able to tell you that I met with my Council person. And she met the people on Free Avenue. 

And that she has a plan for our area. And that's she has vision for our area. And if not, she won't 

be our Council person, thank you. Warren: What was the issue of the Planning Commission? 

What was the scope, or what was it? Harp: The issue was that some people from Berksville, 

Northridge-Ville way, someplace else. Decided that they wanted to use the space at the end of 



Free Avenue for a sports complex. When they came to the first meeting, they didn't have a traffic 

plan. They didn't know how wide the street was. They didn't know how many houses were across 

the street. They just bounced in because, they thought it was going to be all (inaudible). Yes, that 

was the issue, that was passed. I want you to know, they passed that against our wishes. We live 

on that street, thank you, I'm sorry. Hill: Let me respond and I'm going to try to not respond in an 

attacked way. But I have met you and residents on that street for many years while I've been 

serving seven years. I lived on that street as well, before I moved to Wright Avenue. Several of 

the Council people here help me with events that I host in that ward and drop fires for every 

single year. So if you haven't been to one of them, I apologize. If somehow you've been missed, 

but I know I've been at your orange door and dropped a flyer there every time I've had an event. 

If you feel I have no vision, if you feel that I don't care, I'm sorry for that, I would be more than 

happy to talk to you. I did not come to that meeting because I wasn't aware of the meeting. And 

many times in this Village, what you experience of not being communicated to, not being 

listened to, I get the same reaction from people that want to make things happen in my ward. 

Didn't know about that meeting, and there was something else that was held on emergency and 

done quickly. Wasn't aware of either one of them. I know other Council people were aware and I 

know that other Councilpeople were there. I was not because I was not aware. The 

communication did not even come to me. I didn't speak at that meeting because it was a resident 

meeting. And as a resident and Council person, I wanted to give people an opportunity to voice 

their concerns. So, I could hear exactly how they felt about that project. And I heard 

overwhelmingly that they did not agree with it. You also live on that street, and you also sat on 

that board. And so I was waiting for the next meeting, which I never got word of. I do not mind 

representing anyone. I think everyone here knows that comes regularly that I am the voice of 

advocating when I feel things are not going correctly. And people are not being held accountable 

and people's voices are not be heard. And I always vote the way that the majority of my residents 

tell me they feel about any legislation in Ward 5. North Lane had a project behind it, I walked 

that street. I got talked to every asked them what they thought and took the majority of their 

opinions. And that's the way I voted, and that's what I always do. And so, while I apologize that 

you feel that way, that is your personal feeling. But I will continue to do the work that I have 

been doing, that I know I'm passionate about, that I show up for on that street and on every street 

in ward 5. Harp: So, let me correct you, at the first meeting, you were there. And you sat there, 

and you didn't open your mouth. Hill: And I just said that I wanted to make sure I heard 

everybody and how they felt. Harp: You heard how they felt, you heard how passionate they 

were and that we didn't want that. But you didn't know about the next meeting. You should have 

made it your point to know. You were waiting for somebody to call you and say, oh, oh the next 

meeting is whatever. You're concerned for your constituients and you know are unhappy. You 

take the step to find out when the next... Hill: I did that, and it wasn't communicated to me... 

Harp: So, you missed the meeting, that meeting was in May. Hill: I wasn't aware of that. Harp: 

And the residents on Free have not heard from you yet. So, to resolve this I think that us having 

dialog, you having dialog with the people that you represent. Not through a flyer to come and eat 

hot dogs, okay. Because they may not be beef. Not through something that's, uh, you've got, uh... 

Blah blah blah going on. Invite us to Oakwood center and sit down and talk about what's going 

on in Oakwood. Hill: I did that all last year, I had monthly meetings all last year. Harp: Then 

somebody on Free should have known your name. Hill: Whether or not somebody knows my 

name doesn't mean I'm not doing the work. People don't read mail, people choose not to attend 

events, but I am dropping flyers to doors and I am hosting events. And like I said, if I make an 



attempt and I'm just left out of communication. Because people don't feel I'll agree with what's 

going on, that is what's happening in this Village. Just like it happened at your meeting and 

voices were not heard and they voted the way they want. That's how the project got there because 

people are unwilling to listen, and it's what I always advocate for. So I hear your concerns, I'll 

make an effort to make sure I come to those doors. And talk to the people that you say I don't 

know. Because I'm picturing every house on Free. And I know all of those people, I have 

dropped off voter registration forms to new people moving in. So I hear you, I did miss that 

meeting because I was not communicated with. I did not speak at that meeting because I did feel 

it was important to hear the residents feedback. And I was waiting for the next meeting. We do 

have other Council people that attended that meeting. I just did not get any communication. 

Warren: I was just wondering, you said that the Planning Commission approved it? Harp: Yes. 

Warren: What was the vote? Harp: There are four people, we are down one person. So, there 

are three men and myself, and the three men voted it for it. But I was told on Friday before the 

meeting. That the Mayor knew that I was the only holdout. So, I just felt like Friday before 

meeting, you already know how you're voting on Monday. But I just don't want the center and 

(inaudible). Thank you for the opportunity to just speak. And I still invite you to meet with us, 

not like on a play level. But on a serious come to the center, sit down with some pencil and paper 

talk level. Hill: I will make sure that I come to your door and actually can deliver to your face, 

like to your person. To make sure you have a flyer because I know I'm not missing your door.  

Shirley Stevens, Lynbrook| Stevens: I'll take my five minutes, I'm going to have a recap. I would 

like the minutes, the old minutes. I would have like to have copies of those, please, if they're 

available. Second thing, oh, I was going to go real quick. I saw one of these right here. I'm taking 

a government accounting class, I'm stuck, I need to go in here. I'm takin' it now. Okay, it said, an 

emergency resolution adopting the alternative format tax budget for the year 2025. What is that? 

First of all, what is that, and the second thing is that since there's an audit, who's handling the 

audit? I assume it's a state audit, do we know what they're specifically looking for? Because 

when you're having an audit, you really don't know what they're looking for, but they normally 

tell you. And then we know that they're back behind, because they're getting records from like 

2022, also we know we have audits out. But there should be some things that have to be done, 

like certification of retirement accounts, there are taxes that have be filed. Are those things still 

going on in this audit? While they're auditing, are those things still being done? Thompson: 

They're still being done, when they come in for the audit, they're working for the state. They had 

a bid process this time, a private firm came in and Julian and Grubb. But they also report to the 

state. So when they come in, they go through all facets of the Village, county departments. They 

give us a list of things they want to test on receivables, payables, your banking, it can be minutes 

from Council, who they ask for. And they also have things like from Mayor's court, Police 

Departments, so a whole facet of things. They just do the random testing, and we give the 

information to them, and then ultimately they have their report. The alternative tax budget is not 

really a budget at all. It's just our estimates to the county. In terms of what our revenues and our 

expenses are going to be. It doesn't set our budget. But what it does, it kind of sets the next 

process for our rates for our police pension, our debt payments, and in the general fund. So, you 

have these rates, so hopefully that kind of sheds some light. But I'd be more than happy to share 

information further about that with the tax bill. Stevens: Okay, because now they're penalizing 

so heavily on everything. If you don't have a nickel in on time. So I was just wondering, in that 

form, is the same thing going on. You know, the taxes are beautiful. The bureaus are penalties, 

and interest rates and everything. So now what they're doing, even as an audit, they won't stop 



the clock on something. They still run the clock, I was wondering, what is that? Is that something 

that I can look online and pull up a copy of that alternative budget? So, you're saying it's not 

going to be a budget? Thompson: You can see it historically here over the years because we file 

it once the legislation passed. Stevens: Now who do I ask to get a copy of it? Thompson: I have 

a nice one-pager that explains it as well. And historically once it's filed with the Clerk, you can 

get a copy of it. Stevens: Okay, so can I come up and ask you for a copy? Okay, thank you very 

much. Okay, now other things I have, ward 2, firecrackers are number one on our list. And I'm 

going to respectfully disagree with that interpretation of what the governor put out. Because I ran 

up here and I got copies of it. And what the Governor said was that these are the new rules 

however you can opt out. Warren: The Law Director said the same thing. That's exactly what he 

said. Stevens: Okay, are you old enough to talk for yourself? (inaudible) jump in... Warren: 

Well, I just jumped in just to get the correction. Stevens: Yeah, one person at a time. What I 

thought he said was, you can opt out. And I read that whole article, unless it was another article. 

He didn't say you could opt out doing lollipops, but you can't do tootsie rolls. He said that you 

could op out. Now, I'm hearing that. He said you can op out, but you have a lot of certain things. 

Now, so that's why I went to Bedford, and I tried to get the legislation, because they have opt 

out. And a lot of other communities have opt-out. Because on Labor Day, when I was laying 

there in that bed in the deep sleep. And I woke up and all hell had went off around me. I've never 

seen the firecrackers on Labor day to such an extent. But it's not just me, it's a lot of other people. 

So my question is that, I need to get a copy of that legislation that says, have to do certain days, 

you have to. So we're saying that that legislation says that you cannot opt out. You have to still 

let them do certain things. You cannot say, we're going to set X numbers, dollars aside, so that 

we have something for our community on the 4th of July. So, that you don't have to be doing 

them in your front yard. Climer: It is a state statute that was passed a couple of years ago. My 

recollection is that each locality, each individual municipality, has the option to opt out 

completely from what that statute permits. Stevens: Okay, on the same page. Climer: Yeah, we 

are. Stevens: Okay, and for the record, I would like to know how the Council has voted on that. 

And how they stand on that piece of legislation on the firecracker. The second thing I would to, 

for the record again, ask the formation of a recreation committee. Because at this time of the 

year, the year is over. I don't see a recreation budget to be able to do this and do that and do that, 

you're operating like me. You have a few dollars, and so you talk to some dollars, but no, you're 

supposed to have a budget. The recreation budget should be passed by now. And to say, well, I 

don't know what's going on, I don't know what the budget is, no. You should have a piece of that, 

now you may have to verify it. Because sometimes I have $200 in there on gas bill, maybe I'll 

have to pay. (inaudible), but you still have that budget. I would not be able to exist without a 

budget. So, I would like to see a formation of a recreation board. Not one person sitting up here, 

just won't be able do that. No, why not have a recreation boards? These are just suggestions, a 

budget review board. I mean, certain things are close to my heart when it comes to budget. 

Pensions have gotten us stuck; people have been without jobs. Only because only one person is 

looking at the budget. No, you need a budget board, we need somebody to have a commission to 

look at that budget who knows what they're doing. I know because I sat in that seat. And I know 

that's an awesome job to have. So, these are some of the things we've become modernized. Have 

a time, planning a vision for our environment. I was looking for the playground legislation. A 

charter review board so that we do go for the board in the future. And with that, I got two other 

things on here. And I like that community engagement, whoever was talking about that. So that 

we know what our community is going to, I love this community. We've been around a long 



time, everybody up here works hard. But I'm excited about it, I've been talking to the people in 

my community, and we love our community, and that's all I have to say.  

 

Sandra Nelson, Jean Drive| Nelson: I used to come to Council meetings very regularly. I stopped 

because of work and all of that. As a resident, being here, built my home in 2007, very proud of 

Oakwood Village. Concern today, first concern, when there are changes in Oakwood Village. It 

would be much greatly appreciated if we are all notified some kind of way. I got a ticket for the 

first time in my life today. A parking ticket and it pissed me off because my car was parked in 

front of my house. When I spoke to my neighbors, none of us knew that we had a no parking 

sign on our street that we could not park in front our homes. I called the Police Department, the 

Police Department told me that... No parking is allowed on the street, that there's a sign. Okay, 

my son went and saw the sign. I'm okay with that, but I was told that if I have to put my car on 

the streets. And if my car's on the street and if I'm not supposed to be parked there. Because my 

husband works crazy hours, I have some people standing in my home right now. So, we have to 

move cars around. So in as much, I had no warning that I was going to get this ticket. So, I am 

the person that my Councilperson said was going be speaking to you. But I just want something, 

I'm not trying to say that you guys aren't doing your job. There are a couple things that I'm 

asking. Because of my interaction with some of your officers that I see in the community. We 

talk about DEI initiatives and about the community. When I first moved over here, our police 

officers were a community. They knew the people that lived here. Now, to speak to some of our 

police officers is like, it's a hard thing. They're hard, I understand times are very rough for it, and 

I get it. I have a brother who's a state trooper captain. I have brother that works with Bedford 

Police Department. So I understand what you guys have to go through. But I think that some of 

your officers need to be change a little bit of their tone. They don't have to be shaker hard or 

whatever district hard. We're Oakwood Village, we're a township, we're family. If I do 

something wrong, I expect to get chastised. I'm okay with that because that's what happens. But 

the respect and just the all-around picture or presentation that some of the officers present is very 

disheartening. Which makes you wonder why we're seeing all these different things on TV. So 

that's one of my complaints, my second is not necessarily a complaint. But none of us knew, so 

I've told my neighbors that they cannot park their cars on the street. That if they have company 

come over and their company stays over late. They need to call Oakwood Police Department to 

say whatever kind of car is sitting on the streets. So, you're going to hear from me every single 

day. You're going to start hearing from some of my neighbors every single day. Because we've 

been over there, we've not been a problem to Oakwood Village. We have not caused any ruckus 

or anything else. When we've had things in the little development that we're in, we've invited the 

whole Council there. The Mayor's been there, the Police Department's been there, Fire 

Department's been there. We have no problem with that, we have no problem feeding you. But 

the communication, I think, needs to be different within Oakwood Village as a community, as a 

township family. My second thing I heard about planning as far as streets. I hear Tryon's going to 

be finished up to Jean Drive. Back in 2009, early 2010, the Mayor promised us that after we got 

our last house in the cul-de-sac on the street. That we would get our final paving. So, I don't 

know when that's going to happen. I just want to make you aware of it so that we can put on that 

list. We never got the final paving at all, because the Mayor said it didn't make sense to put a 

final pavings on the street until the final house was in. So, we just got the house in this year, so 

very excited. And I have talked to my Council lady, I've also talked to Johnny Warren. I have no 

issues, but I just needed to come here tonight. And very last thing, since we do have our last 



house, and we're very proud of our own. We want a bigger sign, I know how to write grants. You 

tell me what I need to do, I'll do it. But I'm proud of my home, I'm proud of the neighbors that I 

live around. And I want us to be seen, to be part of it. Warren: Not just Jean Drive but I talked 

to the Mayor already and i just told him that the signs are kind of small. They get smaller as you 

get older I don't know if it's the rain that shrinks them or what. Matlock: Sandy, we will get 

something out to you regarding the parking. I think we probably did address it some inside of our 

newsletter, but maybe we didn't go to the extent where we should have. Went to the extend with 

the parking in the streets and by the fire hydrants or whatever. But that's why I wanted you to 

come in and talk to our police because our Police is very community oriented. I love them 

because they are very engaged. Nelson: Some of them are. Matlock: Some of them are, but if 

you ever, ever, ever have a problem with the policemen. Call Chief Garrett, you call him. 

Garratt: First of all, I (inaudible) my officers on not being exactly an officer that you're saying. 

That bothers me, and it hurts that you had that deal with him, first of all. I would like you to 

come and talk to me on the side. And if we could go over specifics of that, I'd really appreciate 

that. And when it occurred and stuff like that, all our officers for any community contacts and 

everything else. And especially with our community members, we try to go above and beyond 

for our community people. As far as your parking ticket, if you didn't get a warning yet. You 

need to come see me on that too. Nelson: I did not get a warning. Garratt: Okay, and this is 

where we have a lot of complaints. And we try not to cite a residents, and we try to say, here's 

your warning. Here's another warning, hey, let's not do this. Just call us and we'll always grant 

you permission. And we don't need an old license plate. We're going to tell you a couple things. 

Park on one side of the street, opposite of the side of fire. Nelson: And that's the funny thing, the 

sign is on the left side of our street. When you drive in, it's on the left side of the street. So, we 

know because of events that we've had on (inaudible), that we can only park on one side. So, 

everyone's really good about that. But because we're such a small community, we have company. 

I mean, the men, they play pool on weekends. So, you're going to have houses that have cars on 

the street. So, I just don't want our family, I'm calling the street my family because they're my 

family. I don't our lives disturbed because of someone that may have an attitude at night. 

Because they don't want to be at work, I am an HR director, I understand. So, I don't want no 

issue, I just understand that the world is taking a turn. Garratt: And that's not an excuse. 

Nelson: It's not an excuse, but I understand. Garratt: I appreciate you understanding this, I 

don't, ok. Because we're not going to tolerate that, our officers aren't that way. I want to say it in 

a group. You've had a different experience, and I'd like to be involved in that experience. 

Because if there is an issue, we're going to take care of that issue. Because we don't allow that 

kind of behavior. When we do certain screenings or we do hiring processes, we call badge heavy. 

And pardon my analogy on this, but you got your butt kicked all the way through high school. 

And now you put your badge on, you want to kick everyone else's butt. Those are the ones we 

don't want. Okay, we want the ones that... Our community embraces them. And if you've been in 

the Council meetings you've heard me talk. Every time we're always looking for ways to bridge 

the gap for the public and the police. Because we don't want that stigma of what you see in the 

news and a lot of that kind of stuff. And I could go on forever about this, but I’ll try to limit it. 

But If you come to me and talk to me about that and your parking ticket too. Here's the issue 

looking from our side view with the parking issues. We get a lot of complaints; you didn't do 

anything about these cars that are parked on the street. We get that a lot and especially in the 

north end in your ward. The driveways are small... Nelson: Well, ours aren't ours are pretty... 

Garratt: And a lot of you guys have a lot of friends. So, we need the room and I'm not expecting 



you to go every single time, "oh, geez we got a car." You know because most cities have parking 

on streets... Nelson: Up until a certain time. Garratt: Exactly, now the Village is never, I've 

been here 31 years, we've never had parking in any streets ever, period, unless you have 

permission. And if you have parties or events or anything like that, we'll definitely try. Maybe 

that's something we should consider down the road. Nelson: And like I told my son this 

morning, my fault. I'm so comfortable with my area, I shouldn't have parked on the street in front 

of my own house. But at the same time, maybe our signs need to be a little bit bigger, maybe a 

little more. We don't want anyone just coming in and out of our cul-de-sac. But maybe they're 

some kind of way just bigger signs making sure that the residents know, this is what we're here 

for. I'll come to one of your meetings on a Saturday or Friday night. To listen to my to listen my 

legal department and the people who are protecting me. I will do that, the community will do 

that. Because I think one of the things that we have to do, and I'm going to sit down. Is we have 

change that mindset, right, of what people think police are. And I guess I'm there because of my 

brothers, right? So I understand what you guys have to go through, but I also know what the 

residents' or people's fears are. Especially a black man or a black woman, we have certain fears. 

Yeah I don't want that here, where I live at. I want to be able to communicate with my partner as 

far as my officers are concerned. I don't t have a problem walking to Sam's Club. I don't want to 

just see you standing there with this hard. Look on your face, grin a little bit. I'm not taking you 

for your folks, but smile, don't be so hard. We understand that you have a job to do. But in short, 

just the effort of making sure that we stay family and not what we see on the tv.  

 

Kenneth Kennedy, Free Ave| Kennedy: I'd like to comment on what the lady said about the 

center down there, but I can't do it tonight. I got an important thing going on, I got to leave. And 

if I say anything without my wife being here, she'll be mad at me. I'm going to catch you next 

meeting. I think some of y'all got her email and stuff like that. So we'll do that at the next 

meeting, okay. Nikolic: Thank you.  

 

Lori Hoover, Macedonia Road| Hoover: I just have a quick question. How come your building 

inspector never shows up at meetings? I've been to five meetings this year, and he was here last 

month. The meeting was long; it got out of hand. He got up and he said, I'm out of here. Before I 

could even ask a question. So, why is he allowed to not be here? All the other department heads 

are here. Nikolic: I received a message from our clerk. Clerk, did you have a message for why 

Mr. Marinucci is not here this evening? Joseph: He's had surgery. Nikolic: So, that's my 

understanding for why he's not here this evening. Hoover: Then he had a dental appointment one 

time, can't people arrange their appointments around their commitments? I mean, it's a civic duty 

to be here and to represent your Village. Residents have questions, I have questions, Mary has 

questions. I'm really tired of what's going on. I got the paperwork the very next day from this 

young lady and I appreciate that. Now I have questions about it, but there's no one here to ask. 

Nikolic: What were your questions if we could maybe jot them down? Hoover: Same thing, 

Mary said... Nikolic: Have you communicated with your ward Council? Hoover: No, I haven't, 

but she asked the questions. What's going on? What's the time frame? Andy Sparks, why isn't he 

here so we can ask questions about it as well? I'd like to know, the Mayor swore to me at that 

meeting that that work would be done by the end of July, in front of all of you. It's not done, in 

fact, now they moved down two lots next to me and completely moved in all kinds of 

construction equipment. So, y'all don't know what's going on because that's not your department. 

But it's his, why isn't he here to ask questions? Okay, he had surgery, I get it, it couldn't have 



been tomorrow? You know, my husband was on Council for 21 years, served on planning for 16 

years. So, I'm used to this stuff, I just don't get it. That's all I'm going to say. Hardin: My 

question, and I'm not certain where you're referring to, are you near DCOMM? Hoover: The 

back of the back of it. Hardin: So, then I guess this is a good time to ask the question. Am I 

correct in what I'm observing? Is there outside storage there or not? Hoover: Yeah, too much too 

much. Davis: The problem I have also is they have extended, I don't know if they bought the lot. 

I wanted to ask if the Planning Commission approved that. Because they moved their equipment 

from Broadway. They cleared out the whole lot, they just have trees a couple trees. And you can 

see all their their cable bundles. They have all those cable bundles on Macedonia Rd. I took 

pictures and I sent them to the Mayor. He was supposed to have somebody on it. And Dan, I was 

going to ask tonight to drill on him, but... Warren: Just to let you know, the Mayor mentioned to 

me those coils and things like that. He claims that he was going to get those things because 

actually, they're on a residential lot. Davis: That's what I thought. Warren: Yeah, and so they 

should be cited right away. And he told me that they were going to be cited. I just found out 

about it yesterday when I was meeting with the Mayor over the phone. And he was the one that 

mentioned it to me. He said that he was going to have them cited because we don't want them to 

store stuff. Hoover: Not just cited, but how are they allowed to do that or even acquire the 

property without zoning changes? Warren: Well, see, the thing is, they didn't do a zoning 

change. That's the huge problem, is that they just... Hoover: It's residential, but they're a 

commercial property and they just moved right into a residential lot. Warren: And that's why 

they're getting cited for doing that. Because of the fact that they can't do that. They're using a 

residential lot for a commercial purpose. Hoover: Well, they should not only be cited, but they 

should have to move everything. Warren: They do, he said that he's going to have them to move 

everything off of that lot, for sure. Hoover: This past week, they finally had a husband and wife 

team, I guess, there, mowing the grass on Broadway. But now they have trucks parked on the 

grass, not even on the concrete. I mean, they put all that concrete in. I gave them approval to do 

it because I'm an adjourning property. Thinking they were going to take care of replacing what 

they destroy, butting up to our property. Two and a half years later, it's still... Nikolic: 

Councilperson Hardin, could you finish what you were saying, excuse us... Hardin: The fact that 

Broadway is our main thoroughfare, if nothing else. There should never be any outside storage 

on Broadway. We fought hard enough to keep heavy industry off of Forbes. Mr. Law Director, 

there is no reason for this woman to keep coming up here like this, this is insane. I asked where 

was the building inspector, but he doesn't come. So, here's what I'm going to say. Mr. Law 

Director, I think you have the authority to move forward. We don't want to chase businesses out, 

but we're not going to keep. Every time I come down Broadway, there's more stuff back there. 

Now they've made their way to the front of the property. It is beyond unsightly, I'm going to ask 

you to give them a 24, 48 hour and it can be done, it's done. It's getting worse and worse and 

worse on the corner of the cars part. Broadway starting to look a little rough. Climer: Can I say 

there were provisions that were to be carried out to screen Broadway with the parking. Now, I 

actually drove by there tonight and kind of noticed there's not a lot of screening. They are zoned 

for what they're doing on the lot that adjoins Broadway, all right. But there were provisions that 

were be made and actually been drawn up to screen Broadway. As well as the property behind. 

In any case... Hardin: Mr. Law Director... Climer: Can I please finish? Hardin: Oh god, I'm so 

tired... Climer: The only thing that I'm going to tell you is I did have a communication with the 

Mayor today about the other lot on Macedonia. And there are steps being taken on that. We will 

expand it as to the other issues along Broadway. Hardin: We need the trucks to move, trucks are 



on wheels. So it doesn't take a nuclear scientist to move those dang trucks. Starting with the 

trucks, they need to be gone tomorrow. Those big reels, cable, whatever that stuff is. And I have 

a personal problem with outside storage. I won't go down that road. But this is what happens. 

You start with a trunk then you got a fleet. You start with one reel, then you've got the whole 

company is moved on that little two by four. It has to go, that is insane. We want the trucks gone 

and we're not going to wait for a bush to grow. They have to go, period. Stevens: And would 

they want that in their neighborhood? Hardin: I don't need any help. I have... Stevens: I'm with 

her, but everybody up on that Council done sat up there and (inaudible) Nikolic: Order, order. 

Stevens: (inaudible) try to say something, you talking about you don't need no help. We all need 

help, that woman needs help. My community needs help... Warren: But you don't speak out of 

order, you were a Council President before you know that, have a good day. Hoover: And I don't 

know, you know, because the building inspector is in here and I don't know what he does all day 

long. But I'm sure he's not aware that that one lot on Broadway just got mowed and weed 

whacked for the first time in six weeks. Warren: Just to let you know, we're working on the 

building department situation. It's been crucial, we've been discussing it over the whole summer. 

We've discussing how we're going to do this. And within the next 30 to 60 days, you will hear of 

some significant changes that are underway in the building department, just to let you now. 

Hoover: thank you, can I ask another question? Is there anything going on that can be discussed 

about the garage next to my property on Macedonia Road? Matlock: She's talking about Gray's 

Brothers. Hoover: Yeah, I mean, it's just bringing down my property down the street. Climer: 

They've been cited and in court. Hoover: Okay, I heard that for the last three meetings... Climer: 

We cannot always completely report it back. I will follow up with our prosecutor on where that 

stands. Hoover: Yeah, I'd like to know, because now they're not only on their driveway, they're 

on the grass. They've got equipment parked on the grass next to them. I mean, it's just pulling 

down people's property values. And if they've been cited, great, let's do something about it. Let's 

tow the vehicles, lets get them out of there. Climer: The court process needs to run for that to 

happen. We can't just pull in with a tow without a court order. Hoover: Well, I have a question 

too for the Chief. Does your Village have a ruling about vehicles on property that need to be 

plated and tagged? Garratt: For residential, yes. Hoover: Not commercial, see, so he can park 

anything he wants there and use it as a junkyard. Climer: That's incorrect. Hoover: That's what 

it looks like. Climer: It is in process in court, all right? I'll ask Tanya, can you send me Mrs. 

Hoover's email? I'll let you know the status of that. Hoover: I appreciate that because it's been 

going on too for almost this whole year, at least. Warren: How long has it been in court? 

Climer: I think the charges were filed in the Spring. Warren: OK.  

 

John Latsko, Gardner Rd| Latsko: I'm on the Planning Commission, that expansion for those 

wheels of whatever it is, cable, they never came to planning to do that, okay. And I think he's 

answered my question. Biggest problem is, they come to the planning commission. We approve 

it the way we want it approved. Agricultural, bushes, fencing, that company came to planning at 

least a year and a half, maybe two years. That man and that woman stood there and said they 

were going to make that beautiful. Well, they've done nothing, but there's no follow up. And I 

think once you mention about getting the building apartment straighten up, that's what we need. 

Warren: We're going to have to find a system and I don't know how that maybe I don't know if 

you guys... When the person gets approved by planning. There should be a plan that you guys 

sign off on that goes to building. So, he can make sure that you bring in one plan, you get you 

guys signed off on. He bring in another plan with something else. You see what I mean? Latsko: 



See, we get his notes before we vote, so he knows what his input is. He either approves it or he 

don't approve it. We also get an input from the Engineer. Anything we approve has to be in 

conjunction with the engineer and the building department, but there's no follow up. 

  

Ben Sizemore, Garden Rd| Sizemore: Resident of Oakwood for a long time, just wanted to ask 

you all a question. We've got two problems, well, I don't think the problems I think they've been 

(inaudible). Put her on the ground, and everybody goes blanking over it, hope it goes away, you 

know. Um, Broadway down there by the bowling alley. The gentleman had all that (inaudible) 

down there. And it's Mr.... Warren: Bugarcic... Sizemore: Yeah, he knows it, I was wondering 

what was being done with it? Because it's growing up pretty good size there. You know, he's got 

a whole lot of pile of things laying there. And you know nothing moving, piles of brick, cinder 

block and everything else he's got back there. Haba: They took all the cinder blocks out. 

Sizemore: Did they? Did they give that to you guys (inaudible)? Haba: A (inaudible) came, he 

must have gotten a little bit of money back for it. Nikolic: Chief, did you have any information 

on this or the ward Council? Garratt: I don't know, it's all building department thing. Davis: We 

have not taken Mr. Bugarcic to court or cited him for that lot, correct? Or we did already? 

Climer: Not to my knowledge. Davis: Can we do that? Because it's been so long, it's been years. 

Climer: No, I understand... Davis: Because his equipment is still there. The lot was supposed to 

be put back to what it was supposed to be originally. Because he's not able to expand and build 

his property that he... Climer: I know he's had lot configuration issues, and there were issues 

with the sidewalk. I had understood the building department was working on that, but I will 

resurrect that. Davis: Thank you. Sizemore: I have another question I want to ask. What are you 

(inaudible) because it looks like a war zone down through there. I mean, it's got minefields all 

over it, all the way down through. I tried to meet with that Wiltshire's inspector there, and you're 

all back in (inaudible). (Inaudible) with him, you know, but he decided to be a horse's __ and do 

something else. And just act like everybody was totally against him, and he avoided everything. 

Nikolic: Excuse me, Mr. Sizemore, you said the creek? I didn't hear the first part. Sizemore: 

Hickory Road, you can walk down through there, you can break an ankle or whatever. And Tom 

tried to keep up with it, and everybody has. You know, but it's overused it's term right now. 

Whatever you got dirt on, it is a mess. You're going to have a dirt road do better than what you 

got there. You know, that street is a bad shape. And another thing I'd like to ask you, what are we 

doing with our lovely bricks down here in front of this? Matlock: And those three pillars. 

Sizemore: In front of that old house over here on Macedonia road. Nikolic: Tommy, is there any 

info about what's happening with that? Haba: No plan, they left it out, a couple people have 

offered to take them. I got one gentleman that's offering to take them right now. Matlock: Can 

we get him to take them? Haba: Talk to the Mayor and get him to... Sizemore: They are nice 

looking, that's good brick. Haba: It's going to cost to move them, it cost thousand dollars just to 

move them. And he was supposed to do that, I know he talked to me twice, that was eight 

months ago. Hardin: So, we're not going to give them away? The Mayor... Haba: That's what 

the Mayor's point is, he wants to get something out of them. Hardin: That's right, because the 

Mayor had the builder of the developer was going to use them move them for us as a part of 

Kroger's. Sizemore: They can be moved if you set them up on railroad tracks. You have to set 

them on railroad track and you clamp them down and set them there. Haba: I know just when 

we had to move them, probably 15 years ago, for utilities. When we moved them like 10 feet, it 

was like $1,500. And that was like 15 years... Nikolic: So, it will be $1,500 to move them and... 

Sizemore: No, it's more than that. Haba: That depends on where you go, but if you move to 



somewhere else in Oakwood, it would probably be $10,000, $15,000. But if you moved it, this 

guy wants to move them out, his daughter lives out in Orange or somewhere. I'm sure it would 

cost $15-20,000 if they could move them. Matlock: Because they're beautiful. Sizemore: You 

won't find anything like that. You've got to move like a cradle, when you've got to stuff like that. 

Because that's what I did for a living at a long time, for a few years. That's all I've got for me. 

Nikolic: Ok, thank you, Mr. Sizemore.  

 

Floor closed 

 

Nikolic: moving on to agenda item number 10, legislation. 

 

Legislation 

 
    2024-37  AN EMERGENCY SALARY ORDINANCE SETTING FORTH CERTAIN POSITIONS  

    Introduced by  OF EMPLOYMENT AND COMPENSATION AND BENEFIT SCHEDULES  

    Mayor and  THEREFORE FOR THE VILLAGE OF OAKWOOD COMMENCING WITH THE 

    Council as a   FIRST PAY PERIOD BEGINNING ON JANUARY 1, 2024 

    Whole 

    1st read 7-12-24 

    2nd read 8-27-24 

    3rd read 9-10-24 

 

Motion to table 2024-37 made by Hardin seconded by Scruggs 

YES VOTE: Warren, Scruggs, Hardin, Matlock, Davis, Hill 

MOTION PASSED  

 
   2024-49  A RESOLUTION OF CONDOLENCES TO THE FAMILY OF J.C. BLADE 

   Introduced 8-27-24 

   By Mayor and 

   Council as a whole 

   1st read 8-27-24 

   2nd read 9-10-24 

 

Motion to suspend rules for 2024-49 made by Davis seconded by Matlock 

YES VOTE: Warren, Scruggs, Hardin, Matlock, Davis, Hill 

MOTION PASSED  

 

Motion to adopt legislation 2024-49 made by Davis seconded by Hardin 

YES VOTE: Warren, Scruggs, Hardin, Matlock, Davis, Hill 

MOTION PASSED 
 

 

   2024-50  A RESOLUTION OF CONDOLENCES TO THE FAMILY OF JOEL LEWIS, SR. 

   Introduced 8-27-24 

   By Mayor and 

   Council as a whole 

   1st read 8-27-24 

   2nd read 9-10-24 

 

Motion to suspend rules for 2024-50 made by Hardin seconded by Davis 



YES VOTE: Nikolic, Warren, Scruggs, Hardin, Matlock, Davis, Hill 

MOTION PASSED  

 

 

Motion to adopt legislation 2024-50 made by Davis seconded by Matlock 

YES VOTE: Nikolic, Warren, Scruggs, Hardin, Matlock, Davis, Hill 

MOTION PASSED 

 
   2024-51               AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 2024-32 IN ORDER TO ATTACH 

   Introduced 8-27-24            AND APPROVE THE CORRECT VERSION OF A CERTAIN AGREEMENT 

   By Mayor and               WHICH THE MAYOR WAS AUTHORIZED TO EXECUTE WITH THE VILLAGE OF 

   Council as a whole            GLENWILLOW FOR PURPOSES OF UNDERTAKING JOINT IMPROVEMENTS 

   1st read 8-27-24                 TO RICHMOND ROAD AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY 

   2nd read 9-10-24 

 

Motion to suspend rules for 2024-51 made by Matlock seconded by Warren 

YES VOTE: Nikolic, Warren, Scruggs, Hardin, Matlock, Davis, Hill  

MOTION PASSED  

 

Motion to adopt legislation 2024-51 made by Matlock seconded by Warren 

YES VOTE: Nikolic, Warren, Scruggs, Hardin, Matlock, Davis, Hill 

MOTION PASSED 

 
   2024-53  A RESOLUTION OF CONDOLENCES TO THE FAMILY OF RICHARD CHRISTIAN 

   Introduced 9-10-24 

   By Mayor and 

   Council as a whole 

   1st read 9-10-24 

 

Motion to suspend rules for 2024-53 made by Davis seconded by Warren 

YES VOTE: Nikolic, Warren, Scruggs, Hardin, Matlock, Davis, Hill 

MOTION PASSED  

 

Motion to adopt legislation 2024-53 made by Hardin seconded by Davis 

YES VOTE: Nikolic, Warren, Scruggs, Hardin, Matlock, Davis, Hill 

MOTION PASSED 

 
   2024-54  A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO SUBMIT A NATUREWORKS  

   Introduced 9-10-24 APPLICATION TO THE OHIO DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES FOR  

   By Nikolic  FUNDING UNDER THE NATUREWORKS PROGRAM FOR THE OAKWOOD VILLAGE  

   1st read 9-10-24  PARK, NE CORNER OF BOOKER AVENUE AND KENTUCKY AVENUE PARK  

      PLAYGROUND IMPROVEMENT PROJECT AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY 

 

Motion to suspend rules for 2024-54 made by Matlock seconded by Davis 

YES VOTE: Nikolic, Warren, Scruggs, Hardin, Matlock, Davis, Hill 

MOTION PASSED  



 

Motion to adopt legislation 2024-54 made by Nikolic seconded by Warren 

YES VOTE: Nikolic 

NO VOTE: Warren, Scruggs, Hardin, Matlock, Davis, Hill 

MOTION FAILED 

 
   2024-55  A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO SUBMIT AN APPLICATION FOR A  

   Introduced 9-10-24  T-MOBILE HOMETOWN GRANT FOR THE OAKWOOD VILLAGE PARK, NE  

   By Nikolic  CORNER OF BOOKER AVENUE AND KENTUCKY AVENUE PARK PLAYGROUND  

   1st read 9-10-24 IMPROVEMENT PROJECT AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY 

 

Motion to remove 2024-55 from the agenda made by Hardin seconded by Davis 

YES VOTE: Warren, Scruggs, Hardin, Matlock, Davis, Hill 

NO VOTE: Nikolic 

MOTION PASSED  

 
2024-56 AN EMERGENCY RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO APPLY TO THE  

Introduced 9-10-25 OHIO PUBLIC WORKS COMMISSION FOR A POTENTIAL GRANT FOR THE  

By Mayor and  FUNDING OF CAPITAL INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS 

  Council as a whole 

  1st read 9-10-25 

 

Motion to suspend rules for 2024-56 made by Warren seconded by Davis 

YES VOTE: Nikolic, Warren, Scruggs, Hardin, Matlock, Davis, Hill 

MOTION PASSED  

 

Motion to adopt legislation 2024-56 made by Davis seconded by Hardin 

YES VOTE: Nikolic, Warren, Scruggs, Hardin, Matlock, Davis  

NO VOTE: Hill 

MOTION PASSED 

 
2024-57 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR AND ENGINEER TO MAKE  

Introduced 9-10-25 APPLICATION TO THE CUYAHOGA COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF DEVELOPMENT  

By Mayor and  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT SUPPLEMENTAL GRANT PROGRAM FOR 2025, AND  

Council as a whole  AUTHORIZING THE SIGNING OF CONTRACTS AND OTHER DOCUMENTS  

1st read 9-10-25 RELEVANT THERETO, AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY 

 

 

Motion to suspend rules for 2024-57 made by Warren seconded by Davis 

YES VOTE: Nikolic, Warren, Scruggs, Hardin, Matlock, Davis, Hill 

MOTION PASSED  

 

Motion to adopt legislation 2024-57 made by Hardin seconded by Warren 

YES VOTE: Nikolic, Warren, Scruggs, Hardin, Matlock, Davis  

NO VOTE: Hill 

MOTION PASSED 



 

2024-58   A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR AND ENGINEER TO MAKE  

Introduced 9-10-25  APPLICATION TO THE CUYAHOGA COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF DEVELOPMENT  

By Mayor and  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT PROGRAM FOR 2025, AND  

Council as a whole  AUTHORIZING THE SIGNING OF CONTRACTS AND OTHER DOCUMENTS  

1st read 9-10-25  RELEVANT THERETO, AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY 

 

Motion to suspend rules for 2024-58 made by Matlock seconded by Hardin 

YES VOTE: Nikolic, Warren, Scruggs, Hardin, Matlock, Davis, Hill 

MOTION PASSED  

 

Motion to adopt legislation 2024-58 made by Matlock seconded by Davis 

YES VOTE: Nikolic, Warren, Scruggs, Hardin, Matlock, Davis 

NO VOTE: Hill 

MOTION PASSED 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Motion to adjourn made by Warren seconded by Davis 

YES VOTE: Nikolic, Warren, Scruggs, Hardin, Matlock, Davis, Hill 

MOTION PASSED 

Adjourned at 9:52p.m. 

 

 

Approved __________________________ 

 

 

 

____________________________  _________________________________ 

Tanya Joseph, Clerk of Council  Erica Nikolic, President of Council 

 


